

**BYLAWS
OF THE
ANTIQUÉ WIRELESS ASSOCIATION**

As Adopted May 2, 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I – THE CORPORATION

Section 1.	Name	6
Section 2.	Offices	6
Section 3.	Purposes	6

ARTICLE II – MEMBERSHIP

Section 1.	Designation of Members	7
Section 2.	Membership Dues	8
Section 3.	Termination of Membership	8
Section 4.	Annual Membership Meeting	8
Section 5.	Annual Report	8
Section 6.	Special Membership Meetings	9
Section 7.	Place of Meetings; Organization	9
Section 8.	Notice of Membership Meetings; Waivers	9
Section 9.	Quorum of Members	9
Section 10.	Action by the Members	10
Section 11.	Property Rights of Members	10

ARTICLE III – BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 1.	Power of Board of Trustees	10
Section 2.	Number, Election and Term of Trustees	10
Section 3.	Resignation and Removal of Trustees	11
Section 4.	Newly Created Trusteeships and Vacancies	11
Section 5.	Annual Meeting	11
Section 6.	Annual Report	11
Section 7.	Regular Meetings	12
Section 8.	Special Meetings	12
Section 9.	Waivers of Notice	12
Section 10.	Place of Meetings	12

Section 11.	Quorum and Adjourned Meetings	12
Section 12.	Action by the Board of Trustees	13
Section 13.	Organization	13
Section 14.	Attendance at Meetings	13
Section 15.	Compensation	13
Section 16.	Property Rights	13

ARTICLE IV – OFFICERS

Section 1.	Description	13
Section 2.	Election and Terms of Officers	14
Section 3.	Additional Officers	14
Section 4.	Removal of Officers	14
Section 5.	Resignation	14
Section 6.	Vacancies	14
Section 7.	President and Chairman of the Board	14
Section 8.	Vice President(s)	14
Section 9.	Curator	15
Section 10.	Secretary	15
Section 11.	Treasurer	15

ARTICLE V – COMMITTEES

Section 1.	Standing Committees	15
Section 2.	Special Committees	16
Section 3.	Committees of the Corporation	16
Section 4.	Meetings	17
Section 5.	Quorum	17
Section 6.	Manner of Acting	17
Section 7.	Executive Committee	17

ARTICLE VI – CONTRACTS, CHECK, DRAFTS AND BANK BALANCES

Section 1.	Execution of Contracts	17
------------	------------------------	----

Section 2.	Loans	18
Section 3.	Checks, Drafts, etc.	18
Section 4.	Deposits	18
ARTICLE VII – GENERAL		
Section 1.	Seal	18
Section 2.	Books and Records	18
Section 3.	Indemnification	18
Section 4.	Insurance	18
Section 5.	Ethical Standards	18
ARTICLE VIII – GIFTS		
Section 1.	Acceptance of Gifts	19
Section 2.	Conditions and Limitations	19
Section 3.	Funds and Accounts	19
ARTICLE IX – CHAPTERS		
Section 1.	Eligibility	19
Section 2.	Membership Requirements	19
Section 3.	Filing Requirements	19
Section 4.	Insurance	20
Section 5.	Hold Harmless	20
Section 6.	No Financial Obligation	20
Section 7.	Chapter Status	20
Section 8.	Benefits	20
Section 9.	Annual Report Requirements	20
Section 10.	Loss of Chapter Status	20
Section 11.	Chapter Status Granted by AWA, Inc.	20
ARTICLE X – FISCAL YEAR		21

ARTICLE XI – RULES OF ORDER AND BYLAW CHANGES

Section 1.	Rules of Order	21
Section 2.	Bylaw Changes	21

BYLAWS

of

ANTIQUÉ WIRELESS ASSOCIATION

ARTICLE I - THE CORPORATION

Section 1. Name.

The Corporation shall be known as: Antique Wireless Association Museum (“Corporation”).

Section 2. Offices.

The principal office of the Corporation shall be located in Ontario County, New York. The Corporation may also have offices at such other places within or outside the State of New York as the Board of Trustees (“Board”) may from time to time determine or the activities of the Corporation may require.

Section 3. Purposes.

The Corporation shall have such purposes as are now or hereafter set forth in its Charter. The Purpose of the Corporation shall be:

- (a) To foster and promote the gathering of accurate information concerning the early days of wireless and radio communication;
- (b) To provide for posterity a collection of gear used for wireless and radio communication from its inception and to provide a collection of historical material in connection with the development of the Radio Art;
- (c) To foster and promote the interest of individuals in the gathering of historic material relating to the wireless and radio art;
- (d) To acquire a real and personal property by purchase, gift, grant, devise or bequest, and to hold, own, accept and dispose of the same for the particular objects of the corporation;
- (e) To purchase or lease and to maintain and operate buildings, clubhouses, or other structures as may be incidental to the above purposes;
- (f) To borrow money and from time to time may make promissory notes and other obligations of the corporation for moneys borrowed or in payment for property acquired for the purposes of the corporation and may secure the payment of any such obligation by a bond and mortgage or by any other lien instruments;
- (g) To solicit donations and to accept money or personal property in aid of the purposes of the corporation;
- (h) To do any and all things necessary and lawful for the accomplishment of the above purposes of the corporation.

- (i) No pecuniary gain shall issue to the corporation, its members, officers and presidents, but the corporation may pay reasonable compensation to employees where such personnel are necessary for the successful operation of the association as progress is made in its organization and continued existence.

ARTICLE II - MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. Designation of Members.

Classes of Membership

- (a) Annual Member: Any person who wishes to engage in one or more of the purposes of the Corporation as listed in the Certificate of Incorporation. Formal application for membership shall be requested by such person and submitted for acceptance by the membership secretary.

Annual membership classes are:

- (i) AWA Member – a voting member of the Corporation.
 - (ii) Friend of the Antique Wireless Museum Member – a voting member of the Corporation.
 - (iii) Corporate Antique Wireless Museum Member – may designate a single representative for the corporate member as a voting member of the Corporation.
 - (iv) Antique Wireless Museum Technology Explorer – 19 years old and under – a non-voting member of the Corporation.
 - (v) Honorary AWA Member – a voting member: A person selected by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the Board for outstanding work in radio history or for service to the Corporation. This shall be considered an indefinite membership unless terminated for just cause by the Corporation or by resignation of the Member. There shall be no dues or other fees for Honorary AWA Membership.
- (b) Life AWA Member – a voting member: Life membership in the Corporation shall be offered to any person who pays a lump sum to the membership secretary, such sum to be established by the Board, and recorded under Procedural Documents.
 - (c) Sustaining Member: Sustaining membership in the Corporation shall be offered to any person who annually pays a premium dues amount. The exact amount is to be determined by the Board of Trustees as part of a duly called meeting. The dues payment will consist of a regular dues amount and a directed donation amount. The regular amount will be that established for annual membership. The directed donation amount will be considered a tax-deductible donation to the AWA. The donation amount shall remain the same annually unless, as part of the annual proposed budget approval process, an exact donation amount by categories is identified by the Board of Trustees for approval for the applicable fiscal year renewal. The Sustaining Member is a voting member, having the voting rights of the underlying AWA membership.
 - (d) Fellow of the AWA – Elevation to the status of Fellow in the Antique Wireless Association is by invitation only to those persons who have been a member in good standing for the previous five years and whose contributions to the Antique Wireless Association or history or science of communications are deemed outstanding by the Board of Trustees. Nominations for Fellow must be submitted in writing to the Fellows

Committee appointed by the President and must be supported in writing by at least two AWA members in good standing. The Fellows Committee will report to the Board of Trustees the names of nominees for Fellow and any relevant information regarding each nominee. Invitations to persons to become a Fellow will be made pursuant to a majority vote of the Board of Trustees.

Section 2. Membership Dues

Membership dues shall be established by action of the Board at a duly called meeting, as directed by these Bylaws. Such action shall be documented in the Minutes of the meeting. Dues shall be published in the AWA Journal.

Current membership dues paid to the Antique Wireless Association will be considered as though paid to the Corporation for membership over the same designated time period.

Section 3. Termination of Membership.

Causes and procedures for termination of membership are:

- (a) Any member may withdraw from the Corporation by submitting to the membership secretary a written statement of resignation. Except under special circumstances or by action of the Board, any dues that have been paid will not be returned.
- (b) Non-payment of dues in a timely manner shall be cause for automatic termination of membership, without any further action by the Board. Membership may be renewed upon application to the membership secretary and payment of current dues.
- (c) If a member is considered to have acted in a manner prejudicial to the interests of the Corporation, or misrepresents the Corporation, or intentionally commits any act or omission in the name of the Corporation which casts the Corporation in a negative light, said member is a candidate for expulsion from the Corporation. Said member shall be given notice and a right of hearing before the Board. Expulsion of a member shall be by an affirmative vote of two-thirds of the Board members present at a regularly scheduled board meeting. Dues shall be pro-rated and any remaining dues shall be returned to the said person.
- (d) Any resigned or expelled member forfeits all rights and/or privileges of membership in the Corporation.

Section 4. Annual Membership Meeting.

An annual membership meeting of voting members shall be held in the month of November of each year, at such time and place as may be designated by the Board of Trustees of the Corporation and stated in the notice of the meeting. At the annual meeting, the voting members shall elect trustees, receive the annual report and transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting.

Section 5. Annual Report.

At the annual membership meeting of voting members, the President, the Curator, and the Treasurer shall present an annual report showing in appropriate detail the following information:

- (a) The financial information described in Article III, Section 6 of these Bylaws;

- (b) A summary of the activities of the Corporation during the preceding year;
 - (c) The number of members of the Corporation as of the date of the report, together with a statement of increase or decrease in such number during the preceding year, and the place where the names and addresses of the current members can be found.
- The annual report shall be filed with the minutes of the annual meeting.

Section 6. Special Membership Meetings.

Special membership meetings of voting members for any purpose may be called by the President of the Corporation and shall be called by the President or the Secretary within fourteen (14) days of receipt of a written request from ten percent (10%) or more of the voting members. Such request shall state the purpose or purposes for the proposed meeting, which shall be held not fewer than two nor more than three months thereafter. Business transacted at a special meeting shall be confined to the purposes stated in the notice of such meeting.

Section 7. Place of Meetings; Organization.

All membership meetings shall be held at a convenient location determined by the Board of Trustees of the Corporation. At each membership meeting the President or, in his or her absence, the Vice President shall preside. The Secretary or, in his or her absence, a person chosen by a majority of the members present shall keep complete and accurate minutes of the meeting.

Section 8. Notice of Membership Meetings; Waivers.

- (a) Notice of each membership meeting shall state the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, the place, date and time of the meeting and, unless it is the annual meeting, shall indicate that it is being issued by or at the direction of the person or persons calling the meeting. Such notice shall be given either personally, by E-Mail message, telefax, or by first class mail to each voting member not fewer than ten (10) nor more than fifty (50) days before the date of the meeting. If mailed, the notice is given when deposited in the United States mail with postage thereon prepaid, directed to a voting member at his or her address as it appears on the record of members or, if he or she shall have filed with the Secretary a written request that notices be mailed to some other address, then directed to such other address. Mailed notices can appear in the AWA Journal, provided that publication is sent in timely fashion by first class mail to all members of the Corporation.
- (b) Formal notice of meeting need not be given to a voting member if he or she executes a waiver of notice, either before or after the meeting. The attendance of a voting member at a meeting, without protesting prior to the conclusion of the meeting the lack of notice of such meeting, shall constitute a waiver of notice.

Section 9. Quorum of Members.

- (a) The presence in person or by proxy of one hundred voting members or, if fewer, one-tenth of the total number of voting members of the Corporation, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any annual or special membership meeting.
- (b) A majority of the voting members present at a meeting, whether or not a quorum is

present, may adjourn any membership meeting to another time and place. Notice of the time and place of holding an adjourned meeting need not be given to absent members if the time and place is announced at the meeting adjourned.

Section 10. Action by the Members.

- (a) Each voting member shall be entitled to one vote on each matter properly submitted to the members for action at any meeting of the members. Unless otherwise required by law or these Bylaws, the vote of a majority of voting members present in person or by proxy at the time of a vote at a duly convened meeting, provided a quorum is then present, shall be the act of the members.
- (b) Every voting member entitled to vote at a meeting of members may authorize another member or members of the Corporation to attend and act for him or her by proxy. Every proxy must be in writing and signed by the voting member granting the proxy or that member's attorney-in fact. No proxy shall be valid after the expiration of eleven (11) months from the date thereof unless otherwise provided in the proxy. Every proxy shall be revocable at the pleasure of the voting member who granted it, except as otherwise provided by law.
- (c) Any action required or permitted to be taken by the voting members may be taken without a meeting if all the voting members consent in writing to the adoption of a resolution authorizing the action. The resolution and written consent thereto by the members shall be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the members.

Section 11. Property Rights of Members.

The members shall not have any rights or interests in or to the property or assets of the Corporation.

ARTICLE III - BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 1. Power of Board of Trustees.

The Corporation shall be managed by its Board of Trustees, which shall establish all general policies governing its operations.

Section 2. Number, Election and Term of Trustees.

- (a) Until changed by amendment of these Bylaws, the number of trustees shall be no fewer than five and no more than twenty, with the exact number to be established by a vote of two-thirds of the entire Board. As used in these Bylaws, "the entire Board of Trustees" means the total number of trustees which the Corporation would have if there were no vacancies on the Board.
- (b) Trustees shall be elected by a majority vote of the members at the annual membership meeting.
- (c) The trustees shall be divided into three classes of approximately equal size, which shall be elected at the annual membership meeting on a rotating basis. Trustees shall be elected at each annual membership meeting to succeed those incumbent trustees whose

terms of office expire that year and shall be elected to serve a term of three years and until their successors are duly elected and qualified, except that a trustee may be elected for a term of fewer than three years if necessary for the purpose of maintaining approximately equal class sizes.

(d) Trustees shall be eligible to serve an unlimited number of consecutive terms.

Section 3. Resignation and Removal of Trustees.

(a) Any trustee of the Corporation may resign at any time by giving written notice to the President or the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if no time is specified, then on delivery. Acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

(b) Any trustee may be removed from the Board without cause by vote of the members, or with cause by vote of the members or by vote of a two-thirds majority of the other trustees, provided there is a quorum of not less than a majority of the entire Board of Trustees present at the meeting at which such action is taken.

(c) Any Board member who fails to attend three Board meetings in a row, either in person or by telephone or other live electronic means, shall be deemed to have resigned their Board position.

Section 4. Newly Created Trusteeships and Vacancies.

Trustee(s) may be elected to fill newly created trusteeship(s) resulting from an increase in the number of trustees or a Trustee may be elected to fill a vacancy caused by resignation, death, disability or removal by a majority vote of the Board members present at an annual, regular or special meeting or by a majority vote of the members present or represented at a member's meeting. A Trustee so elected by the Board shall be confirmed by a vote of the members present or represented at the next Annual Membership Meeting and shall hold office for an assigned term or for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor in office and until a successor is elected and takes office.

Section 5. Annual Meeting.

The annual meeting of the Board of Trustees shall be held after the annual membership meeting each year at a convenient time and location designated by the Board. Notice of the annual meeting shall be given to each member of the Board at least ten days prior to the meeting by hand delivery, first class mail, e-mail or telefax.

Section 6. Annual Report.

The Board of Trustees shall direct the President and the Treasurer to present at its annual meeting an annual report verified by the President and the Treasurer or by a majority of trustees, or certified by an independent public or certified public accountant, showing in appropriate detail the following:

- (1) The assets and liabilities, including any trust funds of the Corporation as of the end of the preceding fiscal year;
- (2) The principal changes in assets and liabilities, including trust funds during said fiscal period;

- (3) The revenue or receipts of the Corporation, both unrestricted and restricted to particular purposes during said fiscal period; and
- (4) The expenses or disbursements of the Corporation for both general and restricted purposes during said fiscal period.

This report shall be filed with the records of the Corporation and a copy thereof entered in the minutes of the meeting.

Section 7. Regular Meetings.

Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be held at least twice each year inclusive of the Annual Meeting at such times and places as may be determined from time to time by the President. Notice of regular meetings shall be given to each member of the Board at least five days prior to the meeting by hand delivery, first class mail, E-mail or telefax.

Section 8. Special Meetings.

Special meetings of the Board of Trustees may be called at any time by the President and shall be called by the Secretary if requested in writing by one-fifth of the entire Board of the Corporation. Notice of special meetings shall be given to each member of the Board at least three days prior to the meeting by hand delivery, first class mail, E-mail or telefax. Said notice shall state the purposes, time and place of the special meeting, and no business other than that specified in the notice may be transacted at the special meeting. The place of a special meeting may be by means of an in-person meeting, conference telephone, or E-mail or similar electronic means. The time of any such electronic meeting for which delayed written responses are necessary shall be at least three days in duration. Each Member of the Board present at such an electronic meeting shall state and/or record his or her responses to all Members of the Board, which responses shall be recorded by the Secretary. For E-mail votes or similar electronic means to be a valid vote by the Board, all (100%) members of the Board shall have registered their vote with the Secretary.

Section 9. Waivers of Notice.

Notice of a meeting need not be given to any trustee who submits a signed waiver of notice, whether before, at or after the meeting, or who attends the meeting without protesting, prior thereto or at its commencement, the lack of notice to him or her.

Section 10. Place of Meetings.

The Board of Trustees may hold its meetings at such place or places within or outside the State of New York as the Board of Trustees may from time to time by resolution determine.

Section 11. Quorum and Adjourned Meetings.

- (a) A majority of the trustees constituting the entire Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at meetings of the Board. When a quorum is once present to organize a meeting, it shall not be broken by the subsequent withdrawal of any trustee(s).
- (b) A majority of the Trustees present, whether or not a quorum is present, may adjourn any Board meeting to another time and place, provided that at least three days written notice

of the adjourned meeting is mailed first class, e-mailed, telefaxed, or hand delivered to all trustees. If a quorum is present at the adjourned meeting, any business may be transacted that might have been transacted at the originally scheduled meeting.

Section 12. Action by the Board of Trustees.

- (a) Each trustee shall have one vote regarding any corporate action to be taken at a meeting of the Board. Except as otherwise provided by law or these Bylaws, the vote of a majority of the trustees present at the time of the vote at a duly convened meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Trustees.
- (b) Any one or more members of the Board or of any committee thereof may participate in a meeting of such Board or committee by means of a conference telephone or similar equipment that allows all persons participating in the meeting to hear each other at the same time. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at such a meeting.
- (c) Whenever under the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law the Board of Trustees is required or permitted to take any action by vote, such action may be taken without a meeting if all trustees unanimously consent in writing to the adoption of a resolution authorizing the action. The resolution and the written consent thereto by the members of the Board shall be filed with the minutes of its proceedings.

Section 13. Organization.

At each meeting of the Board of Trustees the President or, in his or her absence, the Vice President shall preside. The Secretary or, in his or her absence, a person chosen by a majority of the Trustees present shall keep complete and accurate minutes of the meeting.

Section 14. Attendance at Meetings.

Attendance at each meeting of the Board shall be recorded by the Secretary in the minutes thereof.

Section 15. Compensation.

The members of the Board of Trustees shall receive no compensation for their services, but trustees may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred in the performance of Corporation duties.

Section 16. Property Rights.

No trustee of the Corporation shall, by reasons of that position, have any rights to or interests in the property or assets of the Corporation.

ARTICLE IV - OFFICERS

Section 1. Description.

The officers of the Corporation shall be a President, one or more Vice Presidents, a Curator, a Secretary and a Treasurer. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person, except the offices of President, Curator and Secretary. The officers shall serve without compensation at the

pleasure of the Board but may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred in performing duties for the Corporation.

Section 2. Election and Terms of Officers.

The officers shall be elected by the Board of Trustees at the annual meeting of the Board. Unless a different term is provided in the resolution of the Board electing such officer, the term of office of each officer shall extend for one year after his or her election and until his or her successor is elected or appointed and qualified. Officers shall be eligible to serve an unlimited number of consecutive terms.

Section 3. Additional Officers.

Additional officers may be elected for such period, have such authority and perform such duties, either in an administrative or subordinate capacity, as the Board of Trustees may from time to time determine.

Section 4. Removal of Officers.

Any officer may be removed by vote of a two-thirds majority of the Board of Trustees, with or without cause, at any time, provided there is a quorum of not less than a majority of the entire Board of Trustees present at the meeting at which such action is taken.

Section 5. Resignation.

Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Trustees, the President or the Secretary. Any such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if no time is specified, then on delivery. Acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

Section 6. Vacancies.

In the event an officer is unable to complete his or her term, a replacement shall be nominated and voted upon by the Board to fill the unexpired term. Acceptance shall be by a majority vote of the Board members present at an annual, regular or special meeting of the Board.

Section 7. President and Chairman of the Board

The President and Chairman of the Board, herein referred to as President, shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and shall generally supervise all affairs of the Corporation. The President shall preside at all meetings of the members or the Board of Trustees at which he or she is present. The President shall also perform such other duties as may be assigned to him or her from time to time by the Board.

Section 8. Vice President(s).

The Corporation shall have at least one Vice President and may have multiple Vice Presidents, in which case they shall be designated First Vice President, Second Vice President, etc. In the event the President is absent or otherwise unable to act, his/her duties shall be assumed by the Vice President or, if there are multiple Vice Presidents, the Vice President with the most senior designation.

Section 9. Curator.

The Curator shall be responsible for the Museum and solely responsible for its collection. The Curator shall work with all Museum committees to improve the Museum. He or she shall have the sole authority to accept acquisitions for the collection, make or accept loans, and recommend items to be deaccessioned. The Curator will report to the Board no fewer than two times a year on the condition of the exhibits, programs and the collection. The Curator may appoint Associate and Assistant Curators as he or she determines appropriate. The Curator shall maintain a Museum Policy Manual as the operating document for the AWA Museum and propose, as appropriate, revisions to the Policy Manual for review and approval at any Board of Trustees meeting.

Section 10. Secretary.

It shall be the duty of the Secretary to supervise the preparation of minutes of all meetings of the members, the Board of Trustees and its committees, the giving of all notices required to be given by the Corporation and the keeping of a current list of the Corporation's members, trustees and officers and their residence addresses. The Secretary shall be responsible for supervising the preparation and maintenance of the books and records of the Corporation. The Secretary shall attend to corporate correspondence and perform all the duties customarily incidental to his or her office and such other duties as may be assigned to him or her by the Board of Trustees or the President.

Section 11. Treasurer.

It shall be the duty of the Treasurer to oversee the financial affairs of the Corporation, report at each regular meeting of the Board of Trustees and participate in preparing the annual report of the Corporation. The Treasurer shall perform such other duties as may be assigned to him or her by the Board of Trustees or the President.

ARTICLE V - COMMITTEES

Section 1. Standing Committees.

- (a) Until changed by amendment of these Bylaws, the Standing Committees of the Board shall be as described in subparagraph (b) below. Except as otherwise provided for by these Bylaws, each Standing Committee shall consist of at least three trustees. The Standing Committees shall have its Chair and Trustee members appointed by the President from among the trustees of the Corporation, subject to the approval of the Board, to serve until the next Annual Meeting of the Board. A vacancy of the Chair or a Trustee thus nominated and approved may be filled by the President at his or her discretion to serve until the next Annual Meeting of the Board. The Chair of each Standing Committee may from time-to-time as necessary and without approval of the Board appoint or replace as many additional members as necessary to accomplish the goals and responsibilities of the committee, as stated below or additional goals, responsibilities or tasks as may be assigned to the committee by the President periodically. The President shall be an ex-officio voting member of each Standing Committee. The Curator shall be an ex-officio voting member of each standing

committee except for the nominating committee. No Standing Committee shall have authority as to the following matters:

- (i) The submission to the members of any action requiring membership approval;
 - (ii) The filling of vacancies on the Board of Trustees or any committee;
 - (iii) The fixing of compensation of trustees for serving on the Board or any committee;
 - (iv) The amendment or repeal of these Bylaws or the adoption of new Bylaws; or
 - (v) The amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board which by its terms is not so amendable or repealable.
- (b) The Corporation shall have as Standing Committees an Accessioning Committee, a Membership Services Committee and a Nominating Committee, as follows:
- (i) The Accessioning Committee shall consist of at least two trustees plus the Curator as Chair of the Committee and the President, ex officio. The Accessioning Committee shall make all decisions regarding the collection of artifacts, equipment, documents, etc. maintained at the Museum operated by the Corporation.
 - (ii) The Membership Services Committee shall consist of at least three trustees plus the President, ex officio. The Membership Services Committee shall sponsor periodic educational meetings and events such as the AWA Annual Convention, publish periodic educational materials such as the AWA Journal, AWA Review and CD collections, provide membership services, financial support and other similar activities in support of the goals of the Museum.
 - (iii) The Nominating Committee shall consist of at least three trustees plus the President, ex officio. The Nominating Committee shall submit to the annual membership meeting a slate of candidates for election to the Board of Trustees. In the event that any of those nominees are not approved by the members, the Nominating Committee shall propose additional candidates until the members have elected a sufficient number of trustees to succeed all incumbents whose terms of office are then expiring and to fill all other vacancies on the Board.

Section 2. Special Committees.

The Board of Trustees, by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board, may create Special Committees which shall have only the powers specifically delegated to them and shall in no case have powers which are not authorized for Standing Committees. The members of Special Committees shall be appointed by the President from among the trustees of the Corporation, subject to the approval of the Board. The President, or his or her designee, and the Curator shall be ex-officio voting members of committees and may attend all meetings.

Section 3. Committees of the Corporation.

The Board of Trustees, by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board, may create Committees of the Corporation which shall have only the powers specifically delegated to them and shall in no case have powers which are not authorized for Standing Committees. The members of Committees of the Corporation shall be appointed by the President, subject to the approval of the Board. Each Committee of the Corporation shall include at least one trustee and

the President, or his or her designee, and the Curator shall be ex-officio voting members of committees and may attend all meetings.

Section 4. Meetings.

Meetings of committees shall be held at such times and places as shall be fixed by the respective committee Chairs, or by vote of a majority of all of the members of the committee. Notice shall be given to all members of the committee not fewer than three days before each meeting by hand delivery, first class mail, E-mail or telefax. Written minutes of the proceedings shall be kept at all committee meetings and shall be submitted at the next meeting of the Board. The activities of a committee shall be deemed to have been ratified after its minutes are presented to and accepted by the Board.

Section 5. Quorum.

Unless otherwise provided by resolution of the Board of Trustees, a majority of all of the members of a committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

Section 6. Manner of Acting.

Any corporate action to be taken by a committee shall mean such action to be taken at a meeting of the committee. Any one or more members of a committee may participate in a meeting by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment allowing all persons participating in the meeting to hear each other at the same time. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at the meeting. Action by a committee shall be taken by majority vote at a meeting or without a meeting by unanimous written consent.

Section 7. Executive Committee.

The AWA shall have a standing Executive Committee composed of President, Vice President(s) Curator, Secretary, Treasurer and the Chairs of any other Standing Committees. Other individuals, such as those charged with managing the Operations and Facilities activities of the AWA may also be invited by the designated members to attend the meetings. The Executive Committee shall be tasked to manage the day-to-day activities of the AWA. It shall coordinate the management of fiscal matters, including a budget review and approval action prior to Board submission. At a minimum it shall meet twice between each Board of Trustees meeting and provide timely written minutes of all meetings to the Board. Any member of the Executive Committee shall attend the meeting telephonically as necessary to minimize cost to the AWA and to accommodate other personal commitments. Minutes of the meetings will be taken by the Secretary as part of the official record of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VI - CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DRAFTS AND BANK ACCOUNTS

Section 1. Execution of Contracts.

The Board of Trustees, except as these Bylaws otherwise provide, may authorize any officer(s), agent(s) or employee(s), in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. However, unless so authorized by the Board of Trustees or expressly authorized by these Bylaws, no officer, agent or employee shall have any power or authority to

bind the Corporation by any contract or engagement or to pledge its credit or to render it liable pecuniarily in any amount for any purpose.

Section 2. Loans.

No monetary loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Corporation unless specifically authorized by the Board of Trustees.

Section 3. Checks, Drafts, etc.

All checks, drafts and other orders for the payment of money out of the funds of the Corporation, all credit card receipts, and all notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Corporation shall be signed on behalf of the Corporation in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Trustees.

Section 4. Deposits.

All funds of the Corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board of Trustees may select.

ARTICLE VII - GENERAL

Section 1. Seal.

The corporate seal shall have inscribed thereon the name of the Corporation, the year of its organization, and the words "Corporate Seal, New York." The seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or otherwise reproduced.

Section 2. Books and Records.

There shall be kept at the museum operated by the Corporation (1) correct and complete books and records of account, (2) minutes of the proceedings of the members, the Board of Trustees and its committees, (3) a current list of the members, trustees and officers of the Corporation and their residence addresses, (4) a copy of the Corporation's Charter and (5) a copy of these Bylaws.

Section 3. Indemnification.

The Corporation shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law under the particular circumstances, indemnify its trustees, officers, employees and other personnel.

Section 4. Insurance.

The Corporation shall not be obligated to purchase trustees' and officers' liability insurance, but should applicable law permit, the Corporation may purchase such insurance if authorized and approved by vote of a majority of the entire Board of Trustees.

Section 5. Ethical Standards.

All actions of the Corporation's Board of Trustees and staff shall be such that they avoid an apparent as well as an actual conflict of interest with any aspect of the Corporation's operation and its collection. The Corporation has adopted the Code of Ethics written by the American

Association of Museums, published in 1994.

ARTICLE VIII - GIFTS

Section 1. Acceptance of Gifts.

The Board of Trustees may accept or reject on behalf of the Corporation any gift, grant, bequest or devise for the general purposes or for any special purpose of the Corporation. Unless the terms of a gift, grant, bequest or devise expressly provide otherwise, it shall be deemed irrevocable.

Section 2. Conditions and Limitations.

Any person who shall give, grant, bequeath or devise money to the Corporation may make such gift subject to such conditions, limitations, specifications and provisions as to the use of the principal or income as he or she may see fit and may specify such uses for the principal or the income as he or she may desire, provided such conditions, limitations, specifications and provisions are consistent with the general purposes of the Corporation.

Section 3. Funds and Accounts.

All property received and accepted by the Corporation shall become a part of the Corporation's property and, subject to any limitations, conditions or legal requirements, may be commingled with other assets of the Corporation. However, such property may be placed in any number of separate and distinct funds or accounts whenever the conditions, limitations, or instructions of the gift, grant, bequest, or devise require a separate fund or account or whenever the Board of Trustees, in its judgment, determines that such property should be placed in a separate and distinct fund or account.

ARTICLE IX – CHAPTERS

Section 1. Eligibility

A group of persons, no fewer than fifteen, may petition the Board to be recognized as a Chapter of the Corporation.

Section 2. Membership Requirements

If it is an existing organization, the petitioners must include all of the board members and officers of the organization and be a member of the Corporation in good standing. If it is a new organization, it is required that each board member and officer be a member of the Corporation.

Section 3. Filing Requirements

As part of the application process the applicant group must submit a copy of its constitution and bylaws to the Secretary of the Corporation for review and approval by the Board. These bylaws must be compatible with the principles of the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Corporation.

Section 4. Insurance

A group requesting Chapter status must annually submit proof that it carries satisfactory liability insurance. Minimums are to be established by the Board upon recommendations by legal and insurance professions and must include coverage for property damage, single-person incident, and multiple-persons incident. Recommended minimums, subject to change, will be listed in the Procedural Documents section of the By-Laws. The Corporation must be named on the Chapter policy as co-insured and the Corporation must receive and have on file a copy of the paid receipt. Failure to receive this receipt will cause the relationship to be dissolved.

Section 5. Hold Harmless

The Chapter must submit a letter to the Corporation stating that it holds the Corporation harmless from any action taken by or events managed by the Chapter. These letters will remain on file with the Secretary. In any joint Corporation/Chapter event, the Corporation's liability insurance will provide protection to the Corporation. While it is not required, it is recommended for legal and liability reasons that a prospective chapter be incorporated.

Section 6. No Financial Obligation

The Corporation will not be financially obligated to a Chapter or be responsible for its debts and obligations.

Section 7. Chapter Status

The Organization will grant Chapter Status in writing, together with copies of any requirements deemed desirable by the Board, to successful applicants. Chapters may state publicly, and it is recommended, that they are Chapters of the Corporation.

Section 8. Benefits

The Corporation may from time to time provide benefits to Chapters. Such benefits will be approved by the Board and will be recorded in the minutes of the meetings. Any benefits granted will be extended to all existing Chapters that enjoy tax-exempt status or meet similar criteria.

Section 9. Annual Report Requirements

Each Chapter shall report annually, during the month of January, in writing to the Corporation its compliance with the provisions above. Each Chapter shall include a list of officers and members and shall detail membership information.

Section 10. Loss of Chapter Status

A Chapter which fails to comply with the above requirements may have its chapter status suspended or withdrawn. Said Chapter may be reinstated upon application, indicating that it can again meet the requirements.

Section 11. Chapter Status Granted by AWA, Inc.

Chapter status granted previously by AWA, Inc. and in good status as of May 2, 2009, shall be deemed to have been by the Corporation and be in good status.

ARTICLE X - FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the Corporation shall commence on the first day of October of each calendar year and end on the last day of September.

ARTICLE XI - RULES OF ORDER AND BYLAW CHANGES

Section 1. Rules of Order.

Meetings of the members, the Board of Trustees and its committees shall be governed by Robert's Rules of Order, except in cases otherwise provided for by these Bylaws.

Section 2. Bylaw Changes.

These Bylaws may be amended or repealed by vote of a two-thirds majority of the members of the Corporation at any meeting thereof or by vote of a two-thirds majority of the entire Board of Trustees at any meeting thereof, provided that a full statement of the proposed change appears in the notice calling the meeting and that notice is given to each member or trustee at least ten days prior to the meeting.

<AWA Museum Bylaws adopted May 2 2021_FINAL_052421 .PDF>